67832-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TRINITY UNIVERSAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF KANSAS,

Respondent

v.

THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mr. Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 TALMADGE/FITZPATRICK 18010 Southcenter Pkwy Tukwila, WA 98188 Telephone: 206-574-6661

Fax: 206-575-1397

Email: phil@tal-fitzlaw.com

Alfred E. Donohue, WSBA #32774 WILSON SMITH COCHRAN DICKERSON The Financial Center, Suite 1700 1215 Fourth Avenue Seattle, Washington 98161-1007 Telephone: 206-623-4100

Fax: 206-623-9273

Electronic mail: donohue@wscd.com

Introduction

Two insurance companies, appellant Ohio Casualty Insurance Co. ("Ohio Casualty") and respondent Trinity Universal Insurance Co. ("Trinity"), had a dispute over coverage for an underlying personal injury lawsuit. Trinity claimed Ohio Casualty and Trinity were co-primary insurers. Ohio Casualty claimed its coverage was excess to Trinity pursuant to the "other insurance" clause in Ohio Casualty's policy.

Trinity defended and settled the underlying lawsuit. Trinity then sued Ohio Casualty for subrogation, equitable contribution and insurer bad faith. When Ohio Casualty failed to answer, Trinity obtained a windfall default judgment for more than three times its total defense and settlement costs, based solely on statutory insurer bad faith claims – even though Trinity had not obtained an assignment of those claims from Ohio Casualty's insured.

Trinity used the default judgment procedure to turn a routine coverage dispute between insurance companies into a three-quarters-of-a-million-dollar windfall. It misused the *ex parte* default judgment procedure to expand its claims and avoid a hearing and findings. It twisted statutes that were enacted to protect ordinary citizens from abusive tactics by insurers into a tool to more than triple the largest possible damages award it could have hoped to recover at trial. Trinity alleged

claims it had no standing to allege, sought damages it was not entitled to recover and which were not, in fact, suffered by the insured, and then proudly "gamed" the procedural rules in an effort to increase its chances of holding on to an otherwise indefensible default judgment.

Default judgments are disfavored in the law, especially those that transgress the bounds of equity. The default order and judgment in this case should be vacated on multiple independent grounds: because Trinity lacked standing to assert the claims on which judgment was rendered; because the judgment was obtained through misrepresentation or other misconduct; because the trial court failed to conduct the required hearing or enter the required findings on damages; and because Ohio Casualty demonstrated prima facie defenses and its failure to answer was due to inadvertence, mistake, or - at most - excusable neglect.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred by rendering the order of default and judgment dated July 14, 2010 against Ohio Casualty and in favor of Trinity.
- 2. The trial court erred by denying Ohio Casualty's Motion to Vacate in an order entered September 30, 2011.
- 3. The trial court erred by awarding supplemental attorney's fees to Trinity for opposing Ohio Casualty's motion to vacate the default judgment.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Is the default order and judgment void due a lack of subject matter jurisdiction because Trinity lacked standing to bring statutory claims of insurer bad faith against Ohio Casualty, an alleged coinsurer? (Assignments of Error 1 and 2).
- 2. Was the default order and judgment obtained through the misrepresentation or misconduct of an adverse party? (Assignments of Error 1 and 2).
- 3. Were the damages alleged by Trinity uncertain and speculative and therefore an evidentiary hearing and judicial findings were required prior to entry of a default judgment? (Assignment of Error 2).
- 4. Was Ohio Casualty's failure to answer the complaint due to inadvertence or excusable neglect? (Assignment of Error 2).
- 5. Did Ohio Casualty demonstrate prima facie defenses to Trinity's claims? (Assignment of Error 2).
- 6. Did Trinity waive, or was it estopped from asserting, the one-year time limitation of CR 60(b)(1) due to its calculated and deliberate delay which Trinity admitted was due solely to its desire to gain a procedural advantage? (Assignment of Error 2).
- 7. Was the trial court's award of supplemental attorney's fee to Trinity for opposing Ohio Casualty's motion to vacate in error because that motion should not have been granted, and because Trinity had no legal right to recover fees under CPA IFCA or *Olympic Steamship*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Introduction.

This is an appeal from the denial of a motion to vacate a default judgment rendered in an insurance coverage lawsuit brought by Trinity against Ohio Casualty. Trinity and Ohio Casualty agreed that Trinity owed primary insurance coverage for the defense and indemnification of a worksite personal injury lawsuit. Trinity contended, however, that Ohio Casualty was also a primary insurer for the claim, while Ohio Casualty contended that its coverage was excess to Trinity's.

Trinity settled the underlying worksite injury lawsuit for an amount well within its coverage limits. Trinity did not seek nor obtain an assignment of rights from the insured. Trinity then sued Ohio Casualty based on its theory that Ohio Casualty was a primary co-insurer with Trinity. When Ohio Casualty failed to answer because it did not receive notice of the lawsuit, Trinity obtained a default judgment for \$764,270.96, more than three times what it had spent to defend and settle the underlying lawsuit. The default judgment was based entirely on alleged statutory insurer bad faith claims of Ohio Casualty's insured, MBC, that Trinity claimed it had standing to bring.

After obtaining the default judgment, Trinity deliberately waited a year and five days before demanding payment from Ohio Casualty, in a calculated effort to make overturning the judgment more difficult. Upon learning of the default judgment, Ohio Casualty promptly filed a motion to

vacate on multiple grounds, which was denied. Over Ohio Casualty's objections, the trial court awarded Trinity \$32,400 in supplemental attorney's fees for opposing Ohio Casualty's motion to vacate, using a 1.5 multiplier "given the contingent nature of the fee." CR 588-89. Ohio Casualty timely appealed to this Court. CP 583, 590.

2. The Underlying Personal Injury Lawsuit and the Insurance Coverage Dispute Between Trinity and Ohio Casualty.

In September 2007, Philip Riley suffered a worksite injury at a construction site in Kitsap County, Washington. CP 79. At the time of his injury, Mr. Riley was employed by Cascade Construction Company, Inc. ("Cascade"), a subcontractor at the worksite. *Id.* In 2008, Mr. Riley sued the worksite's general contractor, Millennium Building Company, Inc. ("MBC"). *Id.* Upon service, MBC tendered the lawsuit to its insurer, Ohio Casualty and Ohio Casualty retained counsel to represent and defend MBC. *Id.*

Pursuant to the contract between MBC and Cascade, MBC had been named as an additional insured on Cascade's insurance policy, which was issued by Trinity. CP 79, 140. The defense of the lawsuit was therefore tendered to Trinity. CP 140. After an exchange of correspondence, Trinity agreed in January 2009 to take over the defense of the lawsuit without a reservation of rights. CP 79, 87. Trinity appointed

new counsel to represent MBC, who substituted for counsel previously appointed by Ohio Casualty. CP 79.

Although Trinity had accepted the tender of MBC's defense and indemnity without reservation of rights, in August 2009 Trinity attempted to tender the lawsuit back to Ohio Casualty. CP 107. Trinity contended that, "under the circumstances of the Millennium claim," the Trinity and Ohio Casualty polices "are co-primary, at least with respect to the defense obligation." *Id*.

Ohio Casualty declined the tender because the Ohio Casualty policy included an "other insurance" endorsement that made its coverage excess to Trinity's. CP 110. That is, Ohio Casualty's coverage came into play only after the defense and settlement costs exceeded Trinity's policy limits. *Id.* The relevant provision in the Ohio Casualty policy read:

4. Other Insurance

If other valid and collectible insurance is available to the insured for a loss we cover under Coverage A or B of this Coverage Part, our obligations are limited as follows:

b. Excess Insurance

This insurance is excess over:

(2) Any other primary insurance available to you covering liability for damages arising out of the premises or operations of the products and completed operations, for which you have been

added as an additional insured by attachment of an endorsement.

When this insurance is excess, we will have no duty under Coverages A or B to defend the insured against any "suit" if any other insurer has a duty to defend the insured against that "suit." ...

When this insurance is excess over other insurance, we will pay only our share of the amount of the loss, if any, that exceeds the sum of:

- (1) The total amount that all such other insurance would pay for the loss in the absence of this insurance; and
- (2) The total of all deductible and self-insurance amounts under all that other insurance.

We will share the remaining loss, if any, with any other insurance that is not described in this Excess Insurance provision and was not bought specifically to apply in excess of the Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations of this Coverage Part.

CP 110-11, 132.

Although Ohio Casualty disputed that its coverage was primary, it expressly agreed to "defend and indemnify Millennium on an excess basis as required under the policy terms." CP 79, 111.

Trinity continued to defend the *Riley* lawsuit and ultimately settled Mr. Riley's claims for \$225,000 in January 2010. CP 79, 96, 104-05.

Trinity placed no conditions on the settlement and paid the full amount. CP 96, 103-05. MBC received a full and complete release of all claims. CP 105. Trinity claims it paid \$20,432.69 in attorney's fees in defending the lawsuit, CP 20, so the total defense and settlement cost was \$245,432.69, well within Trinity's primary coverage of \$1,000,000 per occurrence. Trinity did not seek or obtain an assignment of the insured's rights against Ohio Casualty. CP 194.

The Trinity insurance policy therefore fully covered MBC's exposure in the *Riley* lawsuit. MBC was fully defended at all times. There is no evidence that MBC was required to pay any cost of defense or settlement or suffered any harm whatsoever from Ohio Casualty's position that its insurance coverage was excess rather than co-primary. The only evidence of "damage" from Ohio Casualty's coverage position was that Trinity paid the full cost of defense and settlement, rather than sharing that cost with Ohio Casualty.

3. Trinity's Lawsuit Against Ohio Casualty (this Lawsuit).

After finalizing the *Riley* settlement, Trinity served the Insurance Commissioner on May 12, 2010, with a summons and a complaint for "Subrogation, Equitable Contribution, and Insurer Bad Faith" brought in its name against Ohio Casualty. CP 27. Trinity did not provide notice of the lawsuit to Ohio Casualty's claims representative or its outside counsel,

although both were known to Trinity. CP 83. Trinity then waited two months, until July 14, 2010, before filing its complaint in court, and did so again without giving notice to Ohio Casualty. CP 1.

It is uncontested that Ohio Casualty did not receive actual notice of this lawsuit and, as a result, did not timely file an answer. Why this happened is a mystery and the superior court made no findings resolving this mystery.

Because Ohio Casualty is a foreign insurer, the Insurance Commissioner was its attorney for service of process. RCW 48.05.200(1). Upon receiving a summons and complaint, the Commissioner was required by statute to send or make available a copy of the summons and complaint to Ohio Casualty "by mail, electronic means or other means reasonably calculated to give notice" to the person designated by the insurer to receive notice. RCW 48.05.200(1) & (2). In this case, a Commissioner's Certificate of Service states that the Trinity summons and complaint were sent to Ohio Casualty in care of its registered agent, Corporation Service Company ("CSC"), on May 13, 2010. CP 302. The Commissioner's files include a return receipt "green card" with CSC's stamp dated May 17, 2010, but the card does not identify the contents of the envelop associated with the card. CP 304. The U.S. Postal Service tracks all registered mail delivered by article number, but the Postal

Service has no record of delivering the Trinity lawsuit to CSC. CP 376, 177. Moreover, while CSC carefully logs and inputs each document it receives on behalf of its customers in an electronic database, CSC has no record of having received the Trinity summons and complaint. CP 407-10. Ohio Casualty conducted a careful investigation and confirmed that neither CSC or any other entity, including Trinity and its counsel, delivered the summons and complaint to Ohio Casualty before the default judgment was taken. CP 83-84.

4. The Default Judgment Against Ohio Casualty.

A week after filing its lawsuit, again without notifying Ohio Casualty or its counsel, Trinity filed an *ex parte* motion for order of default and default judgment. CP 17. The motion was granted and judgment entered the following day by a court commissioner in the *ex parte* department. CP 55.

Rather than simply seeking a portion of the defense and settlement costs it incurred in the *Riley* lawsuit based on its theory that Ohio Casualty

¹ While it is possible that the Commissioner placed a copy of the correct summons and complaint into an envelope, correctly addressed it to CSC, and that CSC received the Trinity summons and complaint, there is no direct evidence that this happened. The facts are equally or more consistent with other possibilities: that an empty envelope was sent to CSC; that the contents were lost and an empty envelop was received; that only the green card was received by CSC; or that the wrong summons and complaint were sent and thus not logged by CSC as a suit against Ohio Casualty. The trial court made no findings to resolve these issues. CP 55.

was a "co-primary" insurer, Trinity sought and obtained a default judgment of \$764,270.96 – more than three times the total of those costs – representing an enormous windfall to Trinity. CP 19-20. Trinity obtained this judgment by ignoring its subrogation and equitable contribution claims and by seeking judgment instead based solely on bad faith and other statutory claims it purported to bring in the shoes of Ohio Casualty's insured, MBC.

In its complaint, Trinity alleged that because it "defended and settled Mr. Riley's claim against MBC," it was "contractually and equitably entitled" to recover defense and settlement costs from Ohio Casualty "under the principle of subrogation." CP 4. Trinity also alleged that because "[u]nder their respective policies, Ohio Casualty and Trinity both had obligations to defend MBC from Mr. Riley's suit," Trinity was "entitled to equitable contribution for Ohio Casualty's share of the cost of Mr. Riley's defense." CP 6. These claims were consistent with Trinity's pre-suit claim that Ohio Casualty was a primary "co-insured," and that because Trinity had shouldered the full cost of defense and settlement, it was entitled to recover a share of the money it had paid to resolve the *Riley* lawsuit. CP 87.

However, Trinity's complaint also purported to allege "insurer bad faith" claims based on Ohio Casualty's contention that its coverage of

MBC was excess over Trinity's coverage of MBC. CP 5-6. Trinity claimed (without citing authority) that, "[a]s the insurer who defended and settled Mr. Riley's claim against MBC, Trinity is contractually and equitably entitled to assert MBC's claim for insurer bad faith against Ohio Casualty under the principle of subrogation." CP. 5.

Trinity alleged that Ohio Casualty, by taking the position that its coverage was excess to Trinity's coverage, "breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing." CP 5. Trinity also alleged that Ohio Casualty failed to "answer pertinent communications from a claimant within ten days," and therefore violated WAC 284-30-360(3), *id.*, even though the communications Ohio Casualty allegedly failed to answer were not from a first- or third-party claimant, but rather were from another insurance company, Trinity. Trinity claimed that these acts constituted violations of the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), RCW 19.86, and the Insurance Fair Conduct Act ("IFCA"), RCW 48.30.015. CP 5.

Based on its allegations, Trinity's complaint sought unspecified actual and treble damages under the CPA and IFCA. CP 5-7. While Trinity claimed it had standing to assert MBC's statutory claims, it failed to state how MBC was harmed in any way by Ohio Casualty's position that its coverage was excess to Trinity's coverage. CP 1-7.

In its *ex parte* motion for default judgment, Trinity relied entirely on the CPA and IFCA statutory claims to calculate the damages it sought. CP 19-20. Trinity cited the \$20,432.69 it claimed to have paid in attorney's fees and then added the \$225,000.00 paid to settle the *Riley* case. CP 20. It now claimed that "[t]his is an expense that should have been borne by Ohio Casualty *alone*, and Ohio Casualty skirted its obligations in bad faith." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Trinity failed to explain why, given its contention that Ohio Casualty was a "co-primary" insurer with Trinity, the defense and settlement costs suddenly were the responsibility of "Ohio Casualty alone." Nonetheless, Trinity then took its total defense and settlement costs, \$245,432.69, and used that amount to calculate damages for what it alleged were *MBC*'s purported statutory claims, even though MBC had not incurred these costs, and in fact had suffered no damages at all!

Trinity's *ex parte* motion claimed Trinity was entitled to the statutory maximum of "treble damages up to \$25,000" under the CPA and "unlimited treble damages" under the IFCA, which Trinity calculated as three times its total defense and settlement costs, or \$736,298.07. Trinity totaled those two figures, threw in \$2,972.89 in attorney's fees and costs for obtaining the default judgment, and sought a total judgment of \$764,270.96. CP 20-21.

The trial court awarded the entire amount requested by Trinity in a judgment entered the next day, July 14, 2010. CP 55. It made no findings to resolve the issue of whether Ohio Casualty received notice of the Trinity lawsuit before default was taken, and it made no findings as to the amount of bad faith damages, if any, that MBC had suffered. *Id.*

5. Ohio Casualty's Motion to Vacate the Default Judgment.

After obtaining the judgment, Trinity sat quiet. It waited one year and five days before notifying Ohio Casualty of the judgment and demanding payment. CP 83. Trinity's delay was entirely tactical. Its trial counsel frankly admitted that Trinity delayed enforcing the default judgment solely in an effort to gain a procedural advantage. "[T]hat's what Trinity did. We're not hiding that. That's exactly what happened." RP 15-16.

Upon learning of the judgment, Ohio Casualty immediately investigated and promptly filed a motion to vacate the default order and set aside the judgment. CP 63. Ohio Casualty argued that the default judgment should be overturned on multiple grounds, including that (1) the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the claims on which judgment was granted and the judgment was therefore void; (2) the default order and judgment had been obtained through misrepresentation or other misconduct; (3) the alleged damages were uncertain and the trial court

failed to hold the required evidentiary hearing and enter the required findings; and (4) Ohio Casualty had stated prima facie defenses and its failure to answer was inadvertent and due to excusable neglect. CP 63-75. The trial court denied the motion to vacate by order dated September 30, 2011. CP 524. Ohio Casualty timely appealed to this court. CP 583.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent Trinity Universal Insurance Co. of Kansas ("Trinity") fatally overreached when it obtained a treble damages default judgment against Ohio Casualty Insurance Co. ("Ohio Casualty"), an alleged coinsurer of a personal injury claim. The default judgment should be overturned and vacated, for multiple reasons.

First, the default judgment is void. Trinity, which alleged that Ohio Casualty had failed to contribute to the defense and settlement costs of the underlying lawsuit, sought and obtained a default judgment not on its own claims for subrogation and equitable contribution, but solely on statutory bad faith claims owned by Ohio Casualty's insured, MBC, not Trinity. Trinity did this so it could seek statutory treble damages and obtain a huge windfall over three times the amount it had paid in defense and settlement costs. Trinity had not, however, obtained an assignment of MBC's CPA and IFCA claims, so Trinity had no standing to allege those

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