## NO. 67832-9-1

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

# THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant,

v.

# TRINITY UNIVERSAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF KANSAS,

Respondent.

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Brent W. Beecher HACKETT, BEECHER & HART 1601 – 5th Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101-1651 Phone: (206) 624-2200 Fax: (206) 624-1767

bbeecher@hackettbeecher.com

#

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

This Court agreed with Bordeaux, that the first \$100,000 of the subcontractor money belonged to the insured under the "made whole" doctrine. *Id.* The "made whole" doctrine holds that the insured is entitled to be made whole from downstream recovery *before* the insurer recovers its payment. Thus in that context, this Court stated, "Nothing in the American Safety contracts gives it the right to subrogation for sums that it did not pay, such as the SIRs. In fact, the subrogation provision clearly only allows American Safety to recover payments it actually made." *Bordeaux, Inc. v. Am. Safety Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn. App. at 696.

Ohio seizes on this quote for the proposition that a paying insurer is not entitled to assert a statutory damages multiplier against a non-paying insurer under the theory of subrogation, because the paying insurer is

e Oninion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The Opinion in *Bordeaux* does not specify how much money was available in the subcontractor recovery trust fund, but it was not enough to reimburse both the insurer and the insured, or this argument would never have taken place.

allegedly allowed to recover only "payments it actually made." Even a cursory reading of *Bordeaux* reveals that it was addressing *only* the issue of whether an insurer was entitled push ahead of its insured in line, such that its subrogation interest trumped the insured's right to reimbursement. This is not that case. *Bordeaux* does not speak at all to the issue of whether an equitably subrogated paying insurer who has *entirely* protected the insured has the right to assert the insured's causes of action for bad faith, CPA and IFCA damages against a non-paying insurer. That issue was raised and settled in *First State*, and is not subject to reasonable dispute. The Court should reject Ohio's position that Trinity had no right to assert bad faith, CPA and IFCA<sup>7</sup> claims.

2. A subrogated insurer is a real party in interest to assert the subrogated claim.

Trinity showed above that a fully subrogated, paying insurer has the right to assert its insured's bad faith, CPA and IFCA claims against a non-paying co-insurer. The issue presented by Ohio is not "standing" in the "right to challenge a statute" sort of sense; it a question of "real party

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The IFCA, which took effect in 2007, was obviously not at issue in either *First State* or *Truck*. There is no basis to treat the IFCA any differently from the CPA for purposes of determining whether the statutory rights transfer along with the entitlement to payment under the non-paying insurer's policy. Either the paying insurer is "standing in the shoes" of the insured, or it is not. Clearly, this Court has held that it is.

in interest" under CR 178. Carle v. Earth Stove, Inc., 35 Wn. App. 904, 908, 670 P.2d 1086 (1983). In *Carle*, Foremost, the insurer, brought suit in the name of its insured, as subrogee, against a third party. The defendant moved to make Foremost a party under CR 17. The court ruled that once an insurer has paid even a part of the insured's claim, both the insured and the subrogated insurer are real parties in interest, and each may bring the action in its own name; the other may be joined as appropriate on the defendant's motion. Id. The court found that the insurer should be added as a real party in interest if it "is found to be the moving force and to have exercised substantial control of this action. . ." Carle v. Earth Stove, Inc., 35 Wn. App. 904, 908, 670 P.2d 1086 (1983). In coming to this conclusion, Carle relied on the United States Supreme Court case of United States v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 338 U.S. 366, 380-81, 70 S. Ct. 207, 215, 94 L. Ed. 171 (1949). There, the court ruled that where a subrogated insurer had entirely protected the insured, it was mandatory for the insurer to bring suit in its own name: "If the subrogee has paid an entire loss suffered by the insured, it is the only real party in interest and must sue in its own name." Id. (citation omitted). Under the holding of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CR 17 states that every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest. In contrast, "Standing to sue is a separate doctrine and is most commonly used to determine whether a party may raise a constitutional challenge to some governmental action." 3A Wash. Prac., Rules Practice CR 17 (5th ed.)

Carle, Trinity is the "moving force" exercising "substantial control" over this action (as is its right), and is a real party in interest.

Whether it is mandatory or optional to bring suit in its own name, a fully subrogated insurer is a real party in interest. *Triplett v. Dairyland Ins. Co.*, 12 Wn. App. 912, 914-15, 532 P.2d 1177 (1975) (holding that a fully subrogated insurer is the real party in interest, and has the right to bring suit in its own name against other carrier under CR 17). This is exactly what the insurer actually did in *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins.*, *Bordeaux*, and *First State*. In any event, doing so is both legally correct, and commonplace<sup>9</sup>.

The fact that a fully subrogated insurer is a real party in interest was specifically noted by opposing counsel, Justice Talmadge, when writing his concurring opinion in *DiBlasi v. City of Seattle*, 136 Wn. 2d 865, 887, 969 P.2d 10 (1998). There, the DiBlasis were the insureds who had been fully compensated by the insurer, Safeco. Although the DiBlasis were the nominal plaintiffs against the third party defendant, Justice Talmadge noted, "The DiBlasis are not the real parties in interest in this

<sup>9</sup> Some courts have held that the insured *also* can be a real party in interest, where the subrogated insurer sues in the insured's name (or, in the case of partial subrogation, at least partly on its own behalf). This is not contrary to Trinity's position; there can be more than one "real party in interest" in any particular case: "General doctrine recognizes

that there may be more than one real party in interest." 3A Lewis H. Orland, et al., Wash. *Practice:* CR 17, at 425 (1992). The context of subrogation is one where more than one party could be denominated "plaintiff."

case. Ms. DiBlasi denied having any claims. Safeco appears to be a subrogee, although it did not so identify itself in the complaint." The same logic compels the result that Trinity is the real party in interest here.

3. Even if Trinity "should have" included the insured's name on the caption as the nominal plaintiff, not doing so does not implicate jurisdiction and does not render the judgment void.

The final step in Ohio's flawed logic regarding "standing" is its proposition that the alleged "defect" in this case was more than a legal error; Ohio contends it cut to the very heart of the Court's jurisdiction. This is an example of the "law of the hammer": when all one has is a hammer, everything looks like a nail. It should be of no surprise that the post-one-year availability of CR 60(b)(5) to Ohio has produced an argument that the Judgment is "void" for lack of jurisdiction. Characterizing supposed legal errors as "jurisdictional" to circumvent the finality of a judgment is nothing new, nor is latching on to casual comments in judicial opinions that suggest that one rule or another touches on the court's "jurisdiction." For example, in the case at bar, Ohio cites a footnote in *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 146 Wn. 2d 207, 45 P.3d 186 (2002):

Although Airport raised the standing issue as an affirmative defense in its answer to Union's complaint, it failed to assert it on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals, however, correctly observed that standing is a jurisdictional issue that

can be raised for the first time on appeal.

Id. at, 212 fn.3

On this basis, Ohio concludes that Trinity's alleged lack of "standing" deprived the Court of subject matter jurisdiction, thus rendering the Judgment void. The use of precisely this type of "jurisdictional" authority was denounced in this Court's very recent opinion in Cole v. Harveyland, LLC, 163 Wn. App. 199, 208-09, 258 P.3d 70 (2011). In that case, Harveyland attempted to assert a statutory defense, for the first time on appeal, to a statutory discrimination claim. The defense appeared conclusive – Harveyland had fewer than eight employees, and therefore did not meet the definition of a suable "employer" under the act. Harveyland did exactly what Ohio does here, citing a "jurisdictional" footnote in another case suggesting that the failure to meet a definition contained in a statutory cause of action could be raised for the first time on appeal because it went to "jurisdiction." This Court rejected that notion in a strongly worded opinion. It held that because the Court has authority to review a new issue on appeal under a variety of circumstances (RAP 2.5(a)), such casual "drive-by jurisdictional rulings" are not precedential. Id.

The Court noted that the United States Supreme Court, as well as Washington's, have urged great caution with respect to the use of

"jurisdictional" language, the latter cautioning, "If the phrase [subject matter jurisdiction] is to maintain its rightfully sweeping definition, it must not be reduced to signifying that a court has acted without error." *Id*. This Court expressed its frustration that despite an apparent sensitivity to the issue, the problem still occasionally crops up in undesirable places:

Despite these cautionary rulings, the terminology of subject matter jurisdiction continues to pop up outside its boundaries like a jurisprudential form of tansy ragwort. This case provides us with one more opportunity to stamp it out.

Id. at 208. (emphasis added)

The Court then proceeded to a properly rigorous discussion of "subject matter jurisdiction." The touchstone for determining whether the Court has subject matter jurisdiction is the type of controversy. Williams v. Leone & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 254 P.3d 818 (2011). The very broad subject matter jurisdiction of the superior court is defined by the state constitution, not by statutes. Wash. Const. art. 4, § 6; Young v. Clark, 149 Wn.2d 130, 134, 65 P.3d 1192 (2003); Williams v. Leone & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wash.2d 726, 254 P.3d 818, 821 (2011)." "If the type of controversy is within the subject matter jurisdiction, then all other defects or errors go to something other than subject matter jurisdiction." Marley, 125 Wn.2d at 539. Washington State Superior Courts undoubtedly have jurisdiction over torts (bad faith) and statutory torts (CPA and IFCA).

Wash. Const. art. 4, § 6. There is no doubt that the Superior Court had subject matter jurisdiction in the case at bar<sup>10</sup>.

Indeed, rather than depriving the Court of power to act, such alleged CR 17 "real party in interest" defects are waived if not timely asserted. Where one party is nothing more that a "conduit" to the legal right of action of another, any error in properly identifying the "real party in interest" as the "proper" plaintiff is waived if the defendant fails to object promptly. Nw. Indep. Forest Mfrs. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 78 Wn. App. 707, 716, 899 P.2d 6 (1995). Accord Plese-Graham, LLC v. Loshbaugh, 164 Wn. App. 530, 538, 269 P.3d 1038 (2011) (real party in interest requirement can be waived). Other cases agree: "If the issue of standing is not raised to the trial court, it may not be considered on appeal." State v. Cardenas, 146 Wn.2d 400, 404-05, 47 P.3d 127 (2002) (citing Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 105 Wn.2d 318, 327, 715 P.2d 123 (1986), overruled on other grounds by Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 483 U.S. 232, 107 S.Ct. 2810, 97 L.Ed.2d 199 (1987)).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Accord Doe v. Fife Mun. Court, 74 Wn. App. 444, 449-50, 874 P.2d 182 (1994). "There are many rights belonging to litigants-rights which a court may not properly deny, and yet if denied, they do not render the judgment void. Indeed, it is a general principle that where a court has jurisdiction over the person and the subject matter, no error in the exercise of such jurisdiction can make the judgment void, and that a judgment rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction is not void merely because there are irregularities or errors of law in connection therewith."

Academic commentary concurs. While a sitting member of the Supreme Court, Justice Talmadge penned a law review article regarding the limits of judicial power. In that article, he discussed "standing" as a requirement for Washington courts' exercise of subject matter jurisdiction:

In federal courts, standing is a requirement for subject matter jurisdiction. In Washington, however, the parties may waive the question of standing by not submitting it to the trial court. If standing were a question of subject matter jurisdiction in Washington, the parties could not waive it and an appellate court could hear it anytime or decide it sua sponte.

Philip A. Talmadge, Understanding the Limits of Power: Judicial Restraint in General Jurisdiction Court Systems, 22 Seattle U. L. Rev. 695, 718-19 (1999).

Finally, the Court should be mindful of the reported decisions in which equitably subrogated insurers actually asserted the insured's rights, including statutory remedies, in their own names. A ruling that these insurers failed to invoke the courts' subject matter jurisdiction would void the judgments in those cases as surely as it would void the Judgment in this one. As Ohio correctly notes, a truly "void" judgment can be set aside at any time. In this case, Trinity had the right to assert the claims it did. But in any event, a novel promotion of the issue whether a subgrogated insurer can be a "real party in interest" to "jurisdictional status" would be the wrong result in this case, and unnecessarily threaten the finality of judgments in other cases. The Judgment is not void; the trial court

properly rejected this CR 60(b)(5) argument. This Court should affirm<sup>11</sup>.

D. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to vacate the Judgment under CR 60(b)(4) – "Fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party."

Ohio's second argument under CR 60(b) is that the trial court erred in refusing to vacate the Judgment because of "misrepresentation or other misconduct" by Trinity in obtaining the default judgment. This is the *only* other basis for vacation argued by Ohio that would not be subject to the one-year limitations period. Ohio alleges that Trinity's assertion, in its Motion for Default Judgment, that it was acting as MBC's assignee in this action was a "misrepresentation" to the trial court. The trial court's rejection of Ohio's CR 60(b)(4) argument will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. Ohio points to none.

Trinity was explicit in its Motion for Default Judgment that Trinity defended and indemnified MBC where those expenses should have been borne by Ohio, and that Ohio abandoned its insured without justification. CP 20. Those facts alone are sufficient to support a judgment on the basis of equitable subrogation, and misrepresented *nothing*. Ohio focuses its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ohio cites *Brickum Investment Co. v. Vernham Corp.*, 46 Wn. App. 517, 731 P.2d 533 (1987) as an example of the trial court lacking subject matter jurisdiction. *Brickum* is not on point. It addresses the limitations on the superior court's specialized statutory jurisdiction over unlawful detainer claims. In the case at bar, the superior court was acting within its general, constitutional jurisdiction, not its expedited, statutorily created unlawful detainer jurisdiction.

attention on the word "assignment" in the *Olympic Steamship* fee section of the brief, calling this particular word the "lynchpin" of the entire Motion. There was nothing improper about using the word "assignment", which our Supreme Court has ruled is synonymous (in this context) with conventional subrogation (*Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co.*, 164 Wn.2d at 423). Regardless of whether Trinity was equitably or conventionally subrogated (it was both), it is absurd to suggest that the use of the word "assignee" instead of the word "subrogee" was a "misrepresentation" by Trinity that would merit vacating the judgment. Ohio would have been free to (incorrectly) challenge Trinity's position as subrogee (or "assignee") on the merits, but its suggestion that this amounts to "misconduct" or a "misrepresentation" presses the boundaries of responsible argument. The Court should reject this new CR 60(b)(4) argument, as did the trial court well within its sound discretion.

# E. Ohio's CR 60(b)(1) Arguments are untimely. But they are also unpersuasive.

## 1. Unmeritorious Defenses

Whether Ohio has a meritorious defense would be relevant only under CR 60(b)(1). Bergren v. Adams County, 8 Wn.App. 853, 855, 509 P.2d 661 (1973). Because more than one year elapsed, the relative merit of Ohio's defenses is not properly at issue. Id. Nevertheless, Ohio's defenses

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